

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2008

Impact of an Electronic Medical Record on Adherence to Current Diabetes Guidelines in a Family Medicine Center

Thomas MacAndrew English University Of Alabama At Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Medical Humanities Commons

Recommended Citation

English, Thomas MacAndrew, "Impact of an Electronic Medical Record on Adherence to Current Diabetes Guidelines in a Family Medicine Center" (2008). *All ETDs from UAB*. 263. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/263

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

IMPACT OF AN ELECTRONIC MEDICAL RECORD ON ADHERENCE TO CURRENT DIABETES GUIDELINES IN A FAMILY MEDICINE CENTER

by

THOMAS MACANDREW ENGLISH

GERALD L. GLANDON, COMMITTEE CHAIR JEROAN J. ALLISON DICK D.BRIGGS III GARY R. CUTTER MEREDITH L. KILGORE

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

2008

Copyright by Thomas MacAndrew English 2008

IMPACT OF AN ELECTRONIC MEDICAL RECORD ON ADHERENCE TO CURRENT DIABETES GUIDELINES IN A FAMILY MEDICINE CENTER

THOMAS MACANDREW ENGLISH ADMINSTRATIVE-HEALTH SERVICES PHD

ABSTRACT

OBJECTIVE: Extensive research shows that diabetic care often falls below recommended guidelines. Many believe that Electronic Medical Records (EMR) have the ability to improve quality of care. The primary goal of this study is to evaluate the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post EMR implementation.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS: The study took place at the UAB Huntsville Family Medicine Center. A retrospective chart review was conducted in order to determine the impact of an EMR on diabetes care. This is a natural experiment that uses a pre post model in order to determine impact. Generalized Estimating Equations were used to determine the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post EMR implementation.

RESULTS: Order rates for all three tests investigated increased after implementation of the EMR however only the increase in microalbumin orders was statistically significant. Microalbumin tests were 147% more likely to be ordered post EMR implementation and the difference was significant (p<.001). HbA1c tests were 26% more likely to be ordered

post EMR implementation and LDL tests were 18% more likely to be ordered post EMR but the differences were not statistically significant. The HbA1c was 1% less likely to be performed and the LDL was 11% less likely to be performed post EMR but neither difference was statistically significant. Microalbumin tests were 98% more likely to be performed post EMR implementation and the difference was significant (p<0.001).

The EMR was associated with an improvement in microalbumin, HbA1c, and LDL control. Patients seen after EMR implementation were 20% more likely to have an HbA1c <7 (p=0.033), 34% more likely to have a LDL<100 (p<0.001), and 55% more likely to have a microalbumin<20 (p<0.001).

CONCLUSIONS: Patterns of care did change after EMR implementation. EMRs may improve quality of care but it is unclear what tools in the EMR may contribute the change.

DEDICATION

This work is inspired by my family and friends that have always supported me. Thank you Heather for the sacrifices you made to allow me to achieve one of my life goals.

Thank you Lilli for showing me what is important in life. Thank you, Sadie, for your great sense of timing.

Thank you to my parents for giving me all the support and help I needed to reach my goals. Thank you J, Bob, Susan, and Maya for the positive energy you give me. Liam you have inspired me and made this research more personal which increased my desire to work on it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank my committee for all the guidance they have given me while I conducted this study. I carefully picked my committee primarily because I liked all of them on a personal level. I also greatly respected their opinions and felt like each of them brought very valuable knowledge coming from multiple perspectives. I also found that they could all deliver criticism in a well thought out constructive manner.

Gerald Glandon, Jeroan Allison, Dow Briggs, Gary Cutter, and Meredith Kilgore all were all great to work with and provided their unique insights to improve the project.

I would like to thank everyone at the UAB-Huntsville campus where I conducted this research. The implementation of the EMR was tough on everyone at first but now everything seems to be running smoothly. Without their hard work none of this would have been possible. In particular I would like to thank Robert Centor for giving me the opportunity to come and work at the UAB Huntsville Campus.

Thanks to you Martha Hilley for making sure I always knew what steps to take. Without you I am sure I would have missed something.

Thanks to my brother Walter Glenn for editing and formatting my document. It is nice to have a professional writer on your side.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACTiii
DEDICATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT vi
CHAPTER 1— INTRODUCTION 1
CHAPTER 2—LITERATURE REVIEW
Glycemic Control & Monitoring
Lifestyle9
Management of Co Morbidities9
Screening10
Quality of Care
Quality Drivers
How to Improve Care
Prior EMR Studies
Intent of study
CHAPTER 3—METHODS
Setting
Workflow
Sample

Measures	36
Dependent Variable	37
Independent Variable	
Covariates	
Design	
Estimation Technique	
CHAPTER 4—RESULTS	43
Demographic Comparison	43
Measures	48
HbA1c	48
LDL	54
Microalbumin	59
CHAPTER 5—DISCUSSION	66
Limitations	68
Strengths	69
Conclusions	70
Recommendations for Future Work	71
REFERENCES	73
APPENDIX: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL FORM	85

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

Table 1. Demographic Comparison Pre and Post EMR	44
Table 2. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c Orders as the Dependent Variable.	50
Table 3. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c Performed as the Dependent Variable.	52
Table 4. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c>=7 as the Dependent Variable	53
Table 5. GEE Model Considering LDL Orders as the Dependent Variable	55
Table 6. GEE Model Considering LDL Performed as the Dependent Variable.	57
Table 7. GEE Model Considering LDL>=100 as the Dependent Variable.	58
Table 8. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin Orders as the Dependent Variable	60
Table 9. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin Performed as the Dependent Variable	62
Table 10. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin>=20 as the Dependent Variable	63
Table 11. Summary of the EMR Impact from the GEE Models	64

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1. Donabedian Paradigm
Figure 2. The vitals entry screen
Figure 3. SnapShot offers a quick view of a patient's problems, medications, health maintenance plan alerts, allergies, tasks, and encounters
Figure 4. ChartViewer displays all notes, labs, correspondence, and encounters for the patient25
Figure 5. Text template for diabetes HPI
Figure 6. Diabetes physical exam template
Figure 7. Prescription for Aspirin printed automatically by the EMR
Figure 8. The Order Entry system being used to place orders for a diabetic
Figure 9. The workflow module is being used to follow up on a patient's medications
Figure 10. Result Module
Figure 11. Quicksets
Figure 12. Health Maintenance Plans
Figure 13. HbA1c Rates Pre and Post EMR
Figure 14. LDL Rates Pre and Post EMR
Figure 15. Microalbumin Rates Pre and Post EMR

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

AR(1)	First order auto regression
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CCHIT	Certification Commission for Healthcare Information Technology
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DCCT	The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DPN	Distal symmetric polyneuropathy
DSME	Diabetic self monitoring education
EMR	Electronic Medical Record
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HMP	Health maintenance plan
HPI	History of present illness
IOM	Institute of Medicine
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
PCP	Primary care provider
ROS	Review of systems
SMBG	Self monitoring blood glucose
UASoMH	University of Alabama at Birmingham Huntsville Campus

CHAPTER 1— INTRODUCTION

In 1996 the Institute of Medicine (IOM) began an effort to improve the quality of health care in the United States. As part of this effort the IOM has released multiple publications addressing the mechanisms that could be used to enhance the quality of care. (1). In 1999 the IOM released "To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System". This report discussed a strategy to improve the quality of health care in particular by preventing errors (2). A second report "Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century" was released that offered more direction to health care entities about how to improve quality. In this report the Institute of Medicine suggested that adoption of health information technology will be essential to improving the quality of health care services over the next decade (3).

In addressing the needs for improved quality of health care the IOM has established a set of key capabilities for electronic medical records (EMR) that has the potential to improve the efficiency and quality of healthcare in the United States. All EMR systems are to include longitudinal patient data, offer immediate access by authorized users, provide knowledge and decision support, and support efficient processes of health care delivery. These requirements where developed in order to improve patient safety, support the delivery of effective patient care, facilitate the management of chronic conditions, improve efficiency, and to allow feasible implementation (4).

The IOM guidelines are pushing the medical profession to adopt EMRs. The medical profession lags behind other industries in the use of information technology systems to enhance performance. However, EMRs are gradually being adopted. Approximately 24% of ambulatory care physicians used EMRs in 2005 (5), this is up from an estimated 17% of office based physicians in 2003 (6). If the adoption rates of EMRs follow the patterns seen with other technological innovations a substantial increase in adoption is likely to be on the horizon. It is posited that the majority of the market develops only after a significant portion of peers in a community have adopted a product and is considered a reference group on which product success or usefulness can be evaluated (7). With an estimated 24% of ambulatory care physicians using EMRs, it is likely that most physicians not using EMRs at least know one who is using an EMR. The availability of peer references should drive further increase in adoption rates. With the current and potential use of EMRs, one must consider what impact the EMRs will have on healthcare.

EMRs have the potential to increase the efficiency and effectiveness with which health care is provided. However, the benefits of EMRs are still unclear. Other industries have seen up to 4% per year gains in productivity due to information technology. An increase of this magnitude could reduce healthcare spending by billions per year (8). The potential cost reductions are impressive but the true impact of the EMR lies with its ability to improve the quality of care that is given to the patient. Many EMR systems are equipped with decision support tools that give the provider reminders and cues about the needs of a particular patient. These decision support tools combined with easily accessible patient data have the potential to improve the quality of care for patients.

The primary goal of this study is to evaluate the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post EMR implementation. The best way to measure the changes in patterns of care is to consider prior measures of high quality care. Quality of care is a nebulous concept but the most concrete measures come from the evidence based treatment guidelines that have been developed. Well developed decision support tools should prompt providers to follow evidence-based treatment guidelines. This should improve the quality of care across the board and reduce practice variation.

Practice variation has been well documented. Early investigations into variations in health care focused on surgical procedures. In 1938 Glover investigated the incidence of tonsillectomy (9) and since then several studies have shown that physician practice variation does occur (10-13). Current efforts to understand variations in health care outcomes have extended this research to look at variations in chronic disease by measuring patient outcomes. In particular, a large body of research has focused on the variation in treatment of diabetes mellitus which is covered in the literature review.

Diabetes Mellitus is one of the most commonly occurring chronic diseases in the United States. Diabetes is characterized by an inability to produce insulin in type 1 diabetics or an inability of the body to be able to properly use insulin in type 2 diabetics. Insulin is a hormone that regulates the amount of sugar that is stored in the blood. Diabetes is likely caused by a mixture of genetic and environmental factors although the exact cause remains a mystery (14).

Diabetes is typically diagnosed based on the results of a glucose test. A person is considered to be diabetic if their fasting glucose is above 126 mg/dl or if the two-hour blood glucose level is at 200 mg/dl or higher. Increased glucose levels can lead to a myriad of medical complications (14).

According to the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, over 18 million people in the United States are diabetic. Diabetes is the sixth leading cause of death amongst diseases in the US. In 2002, the total cost of diabetes in the US was estimated to be \$132 billion (15). The costs and deaths associated with diabetes are expected to grow in the future. Death from diabetes is becoming more prevalent (16). The rates of diabetes are expected to grow and males born in 2000 are estimated to have a 32% lifetime chance to develop diabetes while females born in 2000 are estimated to have 38.5% chance to develop diabetes (17). Diabetes can lead to heart disease, stroke, blindness, kidney failure, pregnancy complications, lower-extremity amputations, and deaths related to flu and pneumonia (15).

Diabetes offers an excellent setting in which to study the impact of the EMR on patterns of care due to the high prevalence of diabetes and the body of work already completed about monitoring and care for the disease. Established diabetes treatment guidelines are in place and extensive research has been done concerning quality of diabetic care. This study is designed based on the Donabedian structure, process, outcomes paradigm (18). Donabedian believed that both structure and process had an effect on health outcomes and that measuring outcomes was the proper way to evaluate a process.

Structure is "the relatively stable characteristics of the providers of care, of the tools and resources they have at their disposal, and of the physical and organizational settings in which they work" (18). The structural level variables of interest in this study are patient and physician demographics. Structure level variables set boundaries that limit process possibilities.

The process involved is patient-physician interaction, as shown in Figure 1. This study should lend evidence as to how one can best change the process in order to improve outcomes. Variables associated with this interaction include treatment regimen and patient compliance.

Donabedian defines outcomes as "a change in a patient's current and future health status that can be attributed to antecedent health care" (18). This study is designed to look at the process of care as well as intermediate outcomes. The primary goal of this study is to evaluate the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post EMR implementation.



Figure 1. Donabedian Paradigm

CHAPTER 2—LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter will cover the treatment guidelines, show the current state of diabetes care, and explore different methods that have been used to improve diabetes care. The factors that impact diabetes management and the programs that aim to improve the quality of diabetic care have been studied to great extent. The issue of diabetes management is extremely complex. The treatment guidelines and numerous patient, physician, and environmental factors that impact diabetes care. These programs have been designed to improve diabetes care. These programs include interventions that have used EMR's, and these typically are evaluated based on adherence to diabetes guidelines. These diabetes guidelines are built on an established evidence base that shows the benefit of following them (15). This chapter is split into eight sections. The first four sections - Glycemic Control & Monitoring, Lifestyle, Management of Co morbidities, and Screening – discuss diabetes guidelines and their importance.

The Quality of Care section discusses past research that has shown that treatment of diabetes is often below guidelines. The Quality Drivers section discusses the reasons why the level of care is falling below the standards set in the guidelines. The How to Improve Care section covers numerous ways to improve quality of care. The final section includes a review of prior studies that considered the impact of Electronic Medical Records on diabetes patterns of care.

Glycemic Control & Monitoring

Glucose monitoring is essential to diabetes management and can be done using various methods. Blood glucose tests can be used to monitor short term sugar levels while the HbA1c gives an average glucose level over the past two to three months (19).

Self-monitoring of blood glucose is recommended (SMBG) and is considered useful in order to maintain a frequent watch on glucose levels (15, 20, 21).

Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) tests should be performed two or more times a year depending on disease state. This test is useful because it gives a weighted average of a patient's glucose level over the past 2-3 months (15, 22). HbA1c is often used in order to determine proper treatment (15). Conducting both SMBG and HbA1c is important so that the patient and provider can understand what is needed to maintain glycemic control.

Generally the target HbA1c for patients is 7% which correlates to a glucose level of 170 mg/dl (15, 23). Several trials have shown that better glycemic control is negatively associated with retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy (24-27). Lower HbA1c values have also been linked to a decrease in microvascular events (28-29).

Lifestyle

Lifestyle modifications are the first line of therapy for many diabetics. Lifestyle modifications include a variety of educational and behavioral interventions that are discussed below. All diabetics should get medical nutritional therapy in order to reach their treatment goals. This therapy includes controlling their weight as well as consuming a proper mix of foods.

All diabetics should receive diabetic self monitoring education (DSME). DSME can lead to improved health outcomes (30-35).

The guidelines also recommend physical activity in order to improve glycemic control, weight control, and reduce risk of cardiovascular disease (15).

Psychological and social assessment of diabetics is recommended because it can allow physicians to know about a patient's ability to partake in self care (15, 36-41).

Flu shots should be given annually to all diabetics. Flu shots have been shown to greatly reduce the hospital admission rates of diabetics during flu epidemics (15, 42).

Management of Co Morbidities

The majority of diabetics are hypertensive which increases the risk of vascular complications (15). Blood pressure should be measured at all diabetic visits. Systolic blood pressure should be below 130 mmHg and diastolic should be below 80 mmHg. The

benefits of controlling blood pressure in diabetics have been shown in several studies (15, 43-46) Blood pressure control has been linked to fewer cardiovascular events and lower mortality (15, 43, 47-48).

Cholesterol levels should be measured annually. LDL cholesterol should be below 100 mg/dl, HDL should be above 40 mg/dl, and triglycerides should be below 150 mg/dl (15). Prevalence of dyslipidemia is high among diabetics and several studies have shown that controlling lipid levels can lower cardiovascular risk (49-58).

Maintaining blood pressure and cholesterol control is essential to limiting the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD). Hypertension and dyslipidemia are both risk factors for CVD (Guidelines 59-63). Diabetics are 2 to 3 times as likely as non-diabetics to suffer from CVD (64-65).

Screening

The combination of a microalbuminuria and a serum creatinine level can be used to monitor for kidney disease. Nephropathy screening should occur annually by completing these two tests. Diabetes is one of the leading causes of kidney disease (66). Diabetes accounts for 44 percent of new cases of end-stage renal disease (15). Current guidelines recommend glucose and blood pressure control in order to limit the risk of kidney disease. Diabetes is the leading cause of adult blindness with diabetic retinopathy causing 12,000 to 24,000 cases of blindness each year in the US (15). Patients that tightly control their HbA1c will have fewer incidences of microvascular complications including diabetic retinopathy (67-70). The Diabetes Control and Complications Study found that strict control of blood glucose reduced mean risk of retinopathy by 76 percent (68). Glycemic and blood pressure control can lower the risk of diabetic retinopathy. Current guidelines recommend that diabetics have a dilated eye exam shortly after diagnoses of diabetes. Annual eye exams are recommended after the initial exam. (15)

Mild or severe nervous system damage occurs in 60 percent to 70 percent of people with diabetes. Nervous system damage can result in impaired sensation or pain in the feet or hands, slowed digestion of food in the stomach, carpal tunnel syndrome, and other nerve problems. Over 60 percent of non-traumatic lower-limb amputations occur among people with diabetes (15). The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) found that glycemic control can delay the progression of diabetic neuropathy (69). It is recommended that all diabetics be screened for distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DPN) annually. Foot inspection to screen for neuropathy should be performed every 3 to 6 months. (15)

Quality of Care

Despite the evidence of the benefits of the guidelines recommended several studies have found that diabetes treatment falls short of recommended guidelines (15, 71-80). This is no doubt due in part to the large amount of testing and daily self management that is required by diabetics. The guidelines themselves call upon the patient and physician to complete many tasks but also require that certain services such as diabetic education are available.

Many diabetics do not follow recommended preventive measures. In 1998 researchers found that many patients did not conduct self monitoring blood glucose checks, get HbA1c tests, receive foot inspections, or have dilated eye exams as recommended (76).

More recent studies have found that the quality of diabetes care is improving but further improvement is still needed (72, 74). Saadine et al. found that intermediate diabetes outcomes including LDL cholesterol, blood pressure, and glucose levels were not well controlled for a large portion of diabetics (74). Jencks et al. found that a large proportion of diabetics are not getting the proper care they need. They found that many patients do not have HbA1c tests, eye exams, or lipid profiles done on a regular basis (72).

Quality Drivers

A number of studies have attempted to the sources of variation in glycemic control. The previous studies have looked at numerous patient, physician, and practice level factors. At the patient level age has shown to have a positive impact with glycemic control. Results suggest that patients learn to manage diabetes better as they get older and that only the lives of the well managed are extended (81-84). Treatment regimen, which considers if patients should use oral medication, insulin, diet and exercise, or a combination thereof, also is an important factor. Diabetes is a progressive disease and typically those on no drugs do the best followed by those on oral medications, and then those using insulin. Typically only the type II diabetic patients that have not improved their condition with diet and exercise will be given anti-diabetic medications (83, 85-91). Studies disagree over the impact of gender (82, 85, 87). Caucasians tend to have better diabetes management than other racial groups (82, 87, 88, 92, 93). Patients that have been more recently diagnosed tend to have better diabetes control (81, 85). People of higher socio economic status tend to have better diabetes control (82, 84, 93, 94-96). Patients with more limited insurance had worse diabetes management (82, 96, 97). The more comorbidities a patient has the poorer their diabetes management tends to be (84-87, 93, 98). Non-compliance with treatment has also has a negative impact on diabetes management (92, 93, 98-101).

Mixed evidence has been given on the association of physician and clinic level variables with HbA1c (81, 85, 95, 97, 99, 102-104).

At the practice level, better equipped practices (85), larger practices (85, 95, 97), existence of a diabetic mini-clinic (85), access to a dietician, or a practice nurse skilled in diabetic care (85), and longer appointments (95) have all been linked with better diabetes control

Few studies have looked at patient, physician, and practice level variables at the same time. Krein et al. conducted such a study to evaluate the variation in diabetes practice patterns and the reliability of diabetes care profiles. The study considered variables attributable to the primary care provider (PCP), the physician group, and the facility. "The greatest amount of variance tended to be attributable to the facility level" (104). Process level measures had up to 9% of their variance attributed to the PCP, however, intermediate level outcomes did not have a large amount of variance attributable to the PCP. In particular only 1% of the variation in most recent HbA1c values was attributable to the PCP. None of the variance in HbA1c was attributable to the facility level (103). This study did use patient case-mix adjustments; however patient variables were not the emphasis.

Based on the evidence, patient factors play an important role on diabetes control, as do practice level factors. The physician level factors tended not to be significant in most of the studies in which they were considered.

How to Improve Care

Programs of numerous shapes and sizes designed to improve diabetes care have been implemented and studied with varying results.

Many quality improvement projects have been studied. While most show some improvement in process level measures, few disease management programs are able to show changes in intermediate diabetic outcomes. These results are in congruence with the research that showed that physician factors have little impact on glycemic control. The results of a study by Mangione et al. that evaluated multiple diabetes quality improvement programs exemplify this. It found that three quality improvement strategies increased retinal screening, nephropathy screening, foot exams, and HbA1c blood tests. The three strategies were performance feedback, physician reminders, and diabetes care management. However, none of the strategies were associated with improvements in HbA1c, blood pressure, or LDL cholesterol (105).

Research using in-depth interviews of 19 primary care physicians offered some insight into how to improve diabetes care. Although physicians had goals that were in line with guidelines they found that patient issues often made proper management of diabetes difficult. The study concluded that diabetic care should be tailored to meet the needs of individual patients and that physicians need to improve their motivational counseling skills. They also suggest that office systems be designed to support patient adherence (99). Case management programs that actually involve an increased number of visits tend to be more successful at improving intermediate diabetic outcomes such as HbA1c.

In the past, disease management programs that aim to modify physician behavior and case management programs that modify the amount of care that patients receive as well as many other types of interventions have shown that they can improve the quality of diabetic care. This literature has also extended to show benefits from electronic medical record systems.

Prior EMR Studies

Studies that have focused on the impact of electronic systems on quality of care have had shown that EMRs and other electronic systems have similar impacts to other quality improvement initiatives. EMRs and electronic prompting systems have been linked with increase rates of foot exams (106), eye exams (106), health maintenance (107), recommended care (108), improved clinical practice (109), quality of care (110), HbA1c (111), LDL (111), frequency of HbA1c (112), and frequency of LDL (112). However, some studies found that EMRs have no impact on quality of care (113).

Two studies were found that looked specifically at the impact of an EMR on the quality of diabetic care provided. O'Conner et al. conducted a study to look at the impact of an EMR implementation on diabetes quality of care. The EMR that was used for the study was developed by Epic Systems. Initially the system provided prompts to physicians when diabetic patients were due for an Hba1c or microalbumin tests. A year

after implementation prompts were put in place to create reminders about blood pressure checks, cholesterol labs, and aspirin therapy. The prompts were on screen but they did not require a response. The study took place in two clinics. One implemented an EMR and the other did not. A total of 122 patients were followed for 5 years. The clinic that implemented the EMR followed 57 while the control clinic followed 65. Both clinics had 4-5 physicians and did not have residency training duties. The two clinics were similar at baseline (114).

The measure of quality was the number of labs that were completed. The study found that EMR increased the number of HbA1c and cholesterol tests but they did not see an impact on actual HbA1c or cholesterol levels. The study looked only at labs performed; it did not look at labs ordered. The EMR should prompt the physician to order more tests even if the orders are not always followed. The study also looked at only a small subset of the diabetes guidelines because the EMR was only expected to have an impact on a few items. It also measured the impact of looking at the number of labs performed which may or may not be the result of a physician following guidelines and ordering the tests more often.

Welch et al. used a natural experiment to study the impact of an EMR on cost and quality of care. The study examined the implementation of EMRs in 4 clinics. A control group of 52 clinics that did not have EMRs was also assessed. The study used claims data to assess the impact of the EMR on cost and quality of care for patients with diabetes, hyperlipidemia, heart conditions, hypertension, or any combination of these diseases. The clinics had differing EMRs with differing functionality. One clinic did not have a full EMR but instead had an enhanced practice management system and access to results from the hospital (113).

In order to measure quality, the study only measured guidelines that the physician could be held accountable for. The study found that the EMR had no impact on cost, quality of diabetes care, and quality of care for heart conditions. EMR implementation was associated with higher quality of care for hyperlipidemia and hypertension. The study used an algorithm to determine if total diabetic care had improved in quality. It did not report the significance of the changes in the individual diabetes quality indicators (113).

The study has several weaknesses. First, the experimental group was not all using the same EMR. It is also not clear if all the physicians at those practices were using the EMR or to what extent. The systems in two of the experimental clinics had EMRs with diagnostic data, lab work, imaging, e-prescribing, and some decision support. The third experimental clinic had similar functions except it did not have imaging. The fourth experimental clinic did not have an EMR and should not have been included. It was included because it did have limited e-prescribing and access to the local hospital system. It is quite possible that control clinics also had the same capabilities as the fourth experimental clinic.

18

The systems were rolled out at the experimental clinics so it is unclear when or if the different functionalities came into effect.

The study used claims data that may give a skewed view of guideline adherence that also is impacted by patient compliance. Many patients are non-compliant so even if a physician has ordered the lab work that is needed it may not be completed by the patient. This will look like a failure of the physician. This is unreasonable because the study targeted only guidelines that the physician could reasonably control.

Intent of study

This study builds on the existing literature in order to analyze the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post implementation of Allscripts Touchworks version 10.2 EMR. This study differs from prior studies because it looks at a large range of diabetic quality of care indicators as well as diabetic intermediate outcomes. The data comes directly from the medical record which allows us to look at the information in three ways. We are able to measure changes in what the physician has ordered as well as changes in what labs the patients actually completed and finally we are able to measure the intermediate diabetes outcomes themselves. This study offers insight into how EMRs are already improving care and what areas need to be improved.

CHAPTER 3—METHODS

Setting

In August of 2006 the University of Alabama School of Medicine Huntsville Regional Medical Campus (UASoMH) installed the Allscripts Touchworks version 10.2 EMR. The event offers an opportunity to study patterns of care before and after the installation of the EMR. The study was approved by the University of Alabama at Birmingham Institutional Review Board.

The UASoMH was established in 1973 and in the past 30 years has emerged as the medical education leader in the northern part of the state as well as an advocate for enhancing family-oriented healthcare delivery for Huntsville and the surrounding nonurban communities. It is the premier center for the training of family physicians, education of medical students, and for supplying high quality healthcare to North Alabama families. Besides providing medical care to over 100,000 patients per year, the UASoMH has trained about one-third of Alabama's primary care physicians. Since 1976, the Huntsville Regional Medical Campus has trained 352 medical students who chose careers in primary care; 35 percent of these physicians now practice in rural areas. In Alabama today, there are close to 100 practicing family medicine physicians who graduated from the campus' residency program. The study itself will focus on the Family Medicine Clinic at the UASoMH. The clinic has nine attending physicians and thirty-six residents. Approximately 110 patients a day are seen by physicians. The clinic also has two pharmacists that provide drug and disease management education.

The EMR was rolled out to the family medicine clinic in a single event on August 16, 2006. The system is used by everyone at the clinic. After the system was installed, no more data was collected on paper. All clinical documentation is done in the EMR in one of a variety of modules. Below is a list of the modules in use at the clinic and their capabilities.

Workflow

The EMR is broken into nine integrated modules. In order to describe how the EMR works and changes the way physicians practice, an example workflow for a typical patient will be given as well as a description of the functions of the various modules. All patient information presented in screenshots is from hypothetical test patients.

The bulk of the visit is documented in the note module which replaces the traditional paper note. Notes can be built in two ways. One option is to create text templates, which incorporate templates with the ability to add free text. This is commonly used when users are discussing the history of the present illness (HPI). The system also uses Medcin templates which allow the user to simply click on problems that are present or absent. The system at UASoMH is designed with multiple diabetes-specific templates.

These templates are used in most sections of the note. Medications, orders, results, allergies, and other items that are in the other parts of the system can all be documented in the note with the click of a button. The clinic does not do any dictation.

The clinical portion of the visit begins with the nurse taking the patient's vital signs and entering any patient history that has been reported. The nurse may add an active problem and place an order for in-house test if needed. The nurse will also enter the chief complaint of the patient. An example of the vitals intake form in Figure 2. Data that is generated on the vitals screen will automatically be pushed to the note created during the patient visit.

Vital Signs Date/Time: 310	ct 2007 📕 09:5	9 AM Status Last Entry:	s: Active Cast Entry:
BP Systolic:	120 mm Hg	Height:	in 💌
BP Diastolic:	80 mm Hg	Weight:	lb 💌
Location:	~	BMI:	kg/m2 Calc.
Position:	~	Head Circum:	cm 🖌
Temperature:	98.6 F 🛩	Pain Scale:	(0-10)
Method:	~	LMP:	
Heart Rate:	bpm	O ₂ Saturation:	(%)
Location:	· · ·	F _i O ₂ :	(%)
Quality:	~	O ₂ Source:	~
Respirations:	R/min		
Quality:	*		
🗹 Post Text to Cu	irrent Note	Import Cite <u>R</u> ecent	<u>A</u> pply <u>C</u> lear

Figure 2. The vitals entry screen.

Before seeing the patient, the physician will review prior visits, look at lab results, and review documented medications and problems. This is typically done by looking at the ChartViewer and SnapShot sections. The physician will look at the patients chart beginning with a "SnapShot" of the patient. Here the physician is able to see what medications a patient is taking and what problems they have. They can also see if they have any labs that need to be ordered as well as a history of past patient visits and a list of tasks that are associated with the patient. The SnapShot screen presented in Figure 3 is the first page that physicians see when they go to a patient during a typical visit workflow.

The next page that is often reviewed is the ChartViewer. Here a physician can look at all the notes, test results, and correspondence about the patient. This page also will identify any tests that have not yet been reviewed by the provider. A screenshot of the ChartViewer is in Figure 4. The ChartViewer allows users to quickly review all documentation available on a patient, however, no data can be added while in the ChartViewer.

SnapShot™			
Active Problems abdomen pain starts/intensified by milk and/or milk products abdominal pain above the pubic area (suprapubic) abdominal pain around the belly button (periumbilical) abdominal pain changed location abdominal pain chronic / constant abdominal pain feels steady, severe abdominal pain in multiple locations abdominal pain in the left lower belly (LLQ) abdominal pain in the right lower belly (RLQ)		Active Medications Bactroban 2 % Cream IBU 800 MG TABS Ketorolac Tromethamine 30 MG/ML Solution SSD AF 1 % Cream Tramadol HCl 50 MG Tablet	
HMP Alert No HMP alerts	q Due 🔶	 Allergens Grass Penicillins Sulfa Drugs 	♦ Category ♦
DateEncounters29 Oct 2007Other25 Oct 2007Result Charge28 Aug 2007Result Charge24 Aug 2007Result Charge23 Aug 2007Result Charge21 Aug 2007Other21 Aug 2007Other21 Aug 2007Result Encounter		New Details Cite View Tasks I Follow Up 3 Appointment /Advise Request 3 CorrectNote Admin 3 CorrectNote Admin 3 CorrectNote User 3 CoSign Note 3 CoSign Note 3 Med Admin	
31 Jul 2007 Result Charge	×	3 Med Admin	Y

Figure 3. SnapShot offers a quick view of a patient's problems, medications, health maintenance plan alerts, allergies,

tasks, and encounters.


Figure 4. ChartViewer displays all notes, labs, correspondence, and encounters for the patient.

The physician will begin the visit by reviewing the chief complaint and documenting the HPI. Documenting in the chart is driven by templates however physicians do have the option of entering free text. Although physician created templates are available for most common diseases many providers prefer to write an unstructured HPI. Figure 5 shows the diabetes HPI template.

DIABETES MANAGEMENT:	is here for follow-up of his diabetes.
LOCATION: []	
QUALITY / CHARACTER: Patient repor	ts symptoms are [worsening][improving].
SEVERITY: [Mild][Moderate][Severe]
Home glucose ranges between [] and []	1.
Morning glucose range: [] to [].	
Mid-day glucose range: [] to [].	
Evening glucose range: [] to [].	
DURATION / ONSET: []	
TIMING: []	
CONTEXT: []	
MODIFYING FACTORS: Patient [has]	[has not] been following his diabetic diet. He
[is][is not] getting adequate exercise.	He [is][is not] taking oral hypoglycemic
medications correctly. He [is][is not] :	taking insulin correctly. Patient's weight has [
decreased][increased] by [] lbs since i	ast visit.
ASSOCIATED SYMPTOMS: [None.][Change in Vision,][Polyuria,][Polydipsia,]
Weakness,][Fatigue,][Dizziness,][Fo	oot pain/sores,][Enuresis,][Day-time enuresi
][Irritability]	

Figure 5. Text template for diabetes HPI

Next, the physician will document any chronic active problem. This can be done using the search function in the note or in the problems list. Items in the problem list can be cited to the note at anytime, so if diabetes is diagnosed at an initial visit it can be cited from the problem list in follow-up visits. The physician can then review the patient's personal history, past medical history, family history, and past surgical history. The historical items typically are entered by the nurse and the doctor can cite them into the note at anytime.

The physician will now document the review of systems (ROS) and the physical exam. These will both be documented in a manner similar to the HPI. Figure 6 shows an example of the diabetes templates for the physical exam section.

Template (Dx Diabetes Follow up)
+ 🎛 🗃 General Appearance
\blacksquare \blacksquare PERRL With Normal Accommodation
+ 🗄 🖃 Neck Suppleness
+ 🎛 🗃 Thyroid
+ 🎛 🖃 Respiration, Rhythm And Depth
+ 🎛 🖃 Lungs And Respiration Auscultation
+ 🎛 🗃 Heart Rate And Rhythm
+ 🎛 🖶 Heart Sounds S1
+ 🗄 🖶 Heart Sounds S2
+ 🕀 🛏 Murmurs
+ 🎛 🗃 Arterial Pulses
+ 🎛 🗃 Abdomen Auscultation
+ 🗄 🖃 Abdomen Palpation
🕀 🖶 Examination Of The Skin Normal Except As Noted
+ 🎛 🖃 Skin Texture Lower Extremities
+ 🎛 🖶 Skin Lesions [On exam]
+ 🎛 🖃 Ulcer On The Feet
+ 🎛 🖶 Ulcer On The Toes
+ 🎛 🖶 Lesions Toes Interdigital Space
🗄 🖶 Hair Loss On Lower Legs
+ 🎛 🖶 Feet Plantar Callus
+ 🗄 🖶 Toes Corns
+ 🗄 🗕 Tactile Decrease Leg / Foot Monofilament Wire Test
Tactile Decrease Leg / Foot Monofilament Wire Test

Figure 6. Diabetes physical exam template

The physician will now cite any important results to the note and document the assessment. Results can be cited in quickly from within the note or by going to the results view. The physician can assess problems by going to the active problems page using the assess button.

Now the physician can place orders for testing and medication. Prescriptions are made in the New Rx workspace in the Rx+ module. The Rx+ module is used to create and send prescriptions electronically. All medication information is created and stored in the system. This allows the clinic to send prescriptions to pharmacies online while still having the option to fax or print prescriptions if necessary. Some drugs require a written script in Alabama and some local pharmacies do not have the systems in place to receive electronic prescriptions so the system was built to be flexible. This module will notify physicians if the drug is not a preferred drug based on patients' insurance. The module also interacts with patients' allergies in order to determine if a medicine is contraindicated. It will also look for contraindications between multiple drugs. This along with the fact that illegible handwriting is no longer an issue may decrease the potential for prescribing errors. An example of a prescription is shown in Figure 7.

UAB Health Center Huntsville - Family Medicine Center 301 Governors Drive, Huntsville, AL 35801 256-551-4500

Name		MRN	50001544
Address	(HP), 301 GOVERNORS DR, HUNTSVILLE, AL 35801	DOB	01/01/2005
	Aspirin Childrens 81 MG Tablet Chewable #3	0	
	Quantity: (thirty tablet chewable)		
	This is only a test. Thanks!		

dispense as written

product selection permitted

Written: 04/10/2008

Refills Authorized 0 Times

Rk: 7822294

Figure 7. Prescription for Aspirin printed automatically by the EMR

Placing orders for testing is done in the order entry workspace in the order module as shown in Figure 8. The order module offers a list of all available labs and requires them to be linked to a diagnosis before being ordered. The module checks to make sure that the orders are needed based on the diagnosis provided. The module also prints lab requisitions with clear orders on them in order to prevent confusion when the patient arrives at testing facilities. The orders module is also used to have referrals scheduled.

	Select Patient 🔻 🧴	MRN: SSN: Sex:	50001544 456-78-9101 M	Age: DOB: H Phone:	2 Years 01/01/2005	Allergies: Directives: PCP:	Yes Unknown	FYI: Note: Other:	<u>FYI</u> Select 1234567
	Order Entry								
	Problems O Active O A	II						<u>N</u> ew.	
e:	cough only with exertion						^	Detai	l]
	 diabetes mellitus secondary to diabetes with ketoacidosis 250. 	cystic 10	fibrosis 250.0()				<u>R</u> esol	ve
	diffuse abdominal pain 789.07	ctarta	d cuddenly				✓ (<u>A</u> sse:	ss
	View: 💿 <u>1</u> My Favorites 🔳 📴		2 Select Grou	лр	<u>○3</u> Searci	h Master	Go	<u>О 4</u> Ві	rowse
	COMP METABOLIC PANEL CMP HEMOGLOBIN A1C HbA1c 0014	- 322 453	000						
	LIPID PANEL - 303756	7							
	MICKOREBOMIN, OKINE 14999	·							

Figure 8. The Order Entry system being used to place orders for a diabetic

One major benefit of the order entry screen is that each physician can create a default view that lists only the items ordered most often. For example, if physicians see a lot of diabetic patients they would have the recommended labs for a diabetic in their favorites list. This is a dynamic list that can be changed by the end user at any time. The system routes all referral requests to the proper clinic staff for completion via the workflow module. The system is also used to order in house tests that will be performed by the staff. The in house tests can be documented by the staff in the system.. All medications and orders made will be documented in the note automatically.

The physician will now document the plan and will conduct any counseling or patient education that is needed. The remainder of the visit documentation includes an attending statement verifying the work of the residents and the creation of the encounter form for billing purposes.

The workflow module allows all tasks that are generated into the clinic to be entered in to the system and tracked. The system is used to relay information from patient, pharmacy, and outside physicians to the clinical entities in the clinic within an efficient manner. The primary benefit is that tasks can no longer be lost as they could when they were simply written on paper slips. This system is also used to notify physicians of completed labs, imaging reports, completed notes, and when they need to submit charges. The system also allows the physician to create orders that are sent to the staff for completion. Figure 9 shows a screenshot of a task being sent.



Figure 9. The workflow module is being used to follow up on a patient's medications.

The Charge module builds the charge slip based on the information that is provided in the note. It also recommends a charge based on the components that were used in the note.

The Result module, shown in Figure 10, allows physicians and staff to view the results of tests on the system. UASoMH has an electronic interface with two facilities in order to have results come over instantly. New results automatically create a task for the physician to review them. The system also has the capability of creating a graph of historical labs to easily see the trends in a patients lab results. Labs that are not sent into the system electronically are scanned in and a task is then sent to the physician to review.

Scanned results do not interact with other parts of the system. The vast majority of the results come over on one of the electronic interfaces. The scan module will be discussed later.

	Select Patient 🔻	i	MRN: 55N: Sex:	50001544 456-78-9101 M	Age: DOB: H Phone:	2 Years 01/01/2005	Allergies: Directives: PCP:	Yes Unknown	FYI: Note: Other:	E Se 123
	Results ^{View:} ⊙ <u>1</u> A		✓ All		<mark>▼</mark> ○ <u>2</u>	Search for a	analyte	<u>Go</u> 🔿 <u>3</u> Un	verifie	d
ο.	Date 🌲	Test 🏻 🇢	Verified	: English, Tł	nomas					
	24Aug2007	IHhemo	<u>HEMOGL</u>	OBIN A1C H	<u>Iba1c 00</u>	<u>1453</u>				
	08Aug2007	Dehydro-L	Test			R	esult	F	lag	
	18Jun2007	A1C		OGLOBIN A1C		7				
	18Jun2007	LIPPR	<u> </u>		-	,				
	18May2007	ihrs								
	0000									

Figure 10. Result Module

The scan module allows the medical records staff to quickly get into the system all information that comes in only paper format. The scan module has been created to have several folders and document types so that the scanned documents are easily identifiable.

The system also has a feature named Quicksets. If a physician uses Quicksets, all the orders they have ever associated with a specific problem will be automatically generated in a pick list of orderable items. For example, if a doctor ordered a HbA1c and a Lipid Panel on a patient with diabetes; the next time they viewed Quicksets on any patient with diabetes, the HbA1c and Lipid Panel would automatically appear and could be ordered if needed. The Quicksets module is shown in Figure 11

🕘 Allscripts -	Microsoft Internet Explorer prov	vided by Huntsville H	lospital				- 7 🗙		
File Edit Viev	v Favorites Tools Help								
G Back 🔹 (🔊 - 💌 😰 🏠 🔎 Searc	:h 🤺 Favorites 🥝	🔊 - 🎽 🗹 -	📙 🎎 💽 🖓	•				
Address 🕘 http	Address 👸 http://10.246.14.7/AH5Web/								
Provider 💌	🖮 Hide <u>V</u> TB				<u>T</u> ools 🔻	🔹 🥐 🕂 🕈 🕈 🕈 🕈	× Logoff		
Chart	ChartViewer SnapShot Flows	heets Problems H	MP Meds New Rx	Immun Orders	Order Entry 🔍 Q	uickSets Results '	vitals Note		
Schedule Patient	Select Patient 💌 🧯	MRN: 50001544 S5N: 456-78-9101 Sex: M	Age: 2 Years DOB: 01/01/2005 H Phone:	Allergies: Yes Directives: Unknown PCP:	FYI: FYI Note: <u>Select</u> Email:	Pri Ins: Other: 123456789			
Tasks MD Charges	QuickSets				Personalize				
Patient List	Problems O Active O	All			New Problem				
Call Process	bipolar I disorder, most rece	nt episode, depressed	296.50	<u>^</u>	Details				
Site	diabetes mellitus 250.00 diabetes with ketopoidosis 25	0 10			Resolve				
	earache in the right ear 388.	70		~	Assess				
	Visit for: 11-12 year visit W21	2							
	QuickSet Items			Selected It	ems: 0				
		VEL BMD 322758							
	CBC 028142	122 DAI: 322,30			=				
	CBC/DIFF 005009								
	COMP METABOLIC PAN	VEL CMP - 322000							
	🔲 Follow-up visit in 3 ma	onths							
	🔲 FSH and LH - 028480								
	HEMOGLOBIN A1C Hb/	A1c 001453			~				
		Cause as Default	Linebeel, All						
	Order Details Kelliove	Save as Dejauit	Undheck All						
	Confirm Rx Action: P	rint V Or	ler Action: Print Bot	h 🗸					
	Post Text to Current Note								
				Save	Cancel				
ALLSCRIPTS' Infere. (resect. Treadere.				eul		2			
	User: englisht Site: UAB Health Center	"Huntsvi Enc Date: 07	Jun 2007 09:55 AM Enc T	/pe: Other		Done	0.0.7		
🛃 start	🖉 Állscripts - Microsoft I	disScreens - Microsof				2 P & X	🔨 🔰 📑 9:59 AM		

Figure 11. Quicksets

The system also has a Health Maintenance Plan (HMP) section. This allows a provider to create reminders on specific patients about when particular test and other orderables need to be completed for a patient. For example, a doctor may create an HMP saying that a diabetic patient needs an HbA1c every 3 months. When a patient comes in and is past due for the HbA1c a warning icon will appear on the patients chart in order to inform the physician that the HbA1c needs to be done. An example HMP is shown inFigure 12.



Figure 12. Health Maintenance Plans

The workflow described is what users were trained to do and what is used most often. Users do have options to use the system in different manners but all the information presented is available to all users.

Sample

The present study was designed as a retrospective chart review of diabetic patients from the UASoMH Family Medicine Clinic. All data was generated from chart audits. The pre-EMR data was manually audited and the post-EMR data was audited using a query tool linked to the EMR. All adult patients diagnosed with diabetes in a defined time period were included in the study. In the pre period patients identified as diabetics with an office visit between 8/15/05 to 8/15/06 were included. For the post period the sample included all diabetic patients with office visits between 8/16/07 and 6/19/08. Once the final visit date for each patient in a time period was indexed chart audits were done. A one year patient history was audited working from the index point into the past. The year ended with the date identified as the last visit in the time period and went back one year. This was done so that patients in the pre group had a full year of care without the EMR and post patients would have a full year of care with the EMR.

Measures

The study is designed to evaluate the changes in diabetic care and diabetic outcomes pre and post EMR implementation. This research focuses specifically on the orders and guidance offered by the physician and not necessarily the actions taken by the patient. Patterns of care will be assessed based on adherence to treatment guidelines. Treatment guidelines are included in this study if the action item is in the physician's control, the action is required at least once per year, and the action is valid for the vast majority of diabetics. The primary focus of the study is to understand if the physicians ordered the tests or not. Next the study examines the number of patients that actually had a test performed. This second portion will provide insight into patient compliance. The tertiary goals of the study are to examine if the EMR actually had impact on intermediate diabetic outcomes.

Null Hypotheses:

- The odds of a patient having diabetic testing ordered is the same both pre and post EMR implementation.
- 2) The odds of a patient having diabetic testing completed is the same both pre and post EMR implementation.
- 3) The odds of a patient having control over their intermediate diabetic markers is the same both pre and post EMR implementation.

To reject the null hypothesis the EMR has to be found to be associated with a change in the probability of labs being ordered, being performed, and lab results being controlled.

Dependent Variable

Patterns of care will be measured by looking at the changes of order rates of labs recommended for all diabetics.

Primary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have an HbA1c order in the last 6 months?

Secondary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have an HbA1c test performed in the last 6 months?

Tertiary: Dichotomous variable: Was the HbA1c result greater than or equal to 7%?

Primary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have an LDL cholesterol screening test ordered in the last year?

Secondary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have an LDL cholesterol screening test performed in the last year?

Tertiary: Dichotomous variable: Was the LDL cholesterol result greater than or equal to 100 mg/dL?

Primary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have a microalbuminuria test ordered in the last year?

Secondary: Dichotomous variable: Did the patient have a microalbuminuria test performed in the last year?

Tertiary: Dichotomous variable: Was the microalbuminuria result greater than or equal to $20 \ \mu g/mg$?

The primary variables will all be based on what orders were made by the physicians. This differs from previous studies because it eliminates the issue of patient compliance and looks specifically at whether or not the physicians are following guidelines.

Independent Variable

The EMR Intervention will be the independent variable of interest. All cases prior to the EMR installation are coded with a zero and all cases that occurred post EMR installation are coded with a one.

Covariates

Patient age, gender, insurance, number of appointments, and co morbidities will be controlled for. Operationalization of the variables is discussed below.

Design

The study is designed to evaluate the changes in diabetic care and outcomes pre and post EMR implementation. The study will test the hypothesis that the EMR is associated with patterns of diabetic care using a Pre-Test/Post-Test Design.

Estimation Technique

Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) were used to determine the relationship of the EMR with diabetes care and intermediate diabetes outcomes. This method was chosen because it can account for the multiple measures for many of the patients. It was developed by Zeger and Liang in order to handle correlated data (115). The dependent variables will be lab orders. The independent variable will be whether the EMR was in place. Covariates will be controlled for. All dependent variables will be considered individually.

GEE models were used to identify statistically significant independent predictors of adherence to diabetes care guidelines. These guidelines include ordering HbA1c, Lipid, and Microalbumin tests

Covariates included in the GEE models are measured in the following ways.

Patient age (Measured continuously)

Gender (Male=1 vs. Female=0)

Insurance (Private vs. Medicare vs. Medicaid vs. Uninsured) 3 Dummy variable will be used with Medicare being the state the other three are measured against.

1) Medicaid: Patient with Medicaid=1 vs. all others= 0

2) Private: Patient with private insurance=1 vs. all others= 0

3) Uninsured: Patients without insurance=1 vs. all others= 0

Numbers of appointments in a given time frame will be measured continuously. The HbA1c models will consider appointments in the last six months and the other models will consider visits in the last year.

Many common co morbidities will be included in the model. Every co morbidity will be operationalized in the model with a dummy variable.

- 1) Hypertension=1 vs. No Hypertension =0
- 2) Hyperlipidemia=1 vs. No Hyperlipidemia=0
- 3) Nephropathy=1 vs. No Nephropathy=0
- 4) Neuropathy=1 vs. No Neuropathy =0
- 5) Retinopathy=1 vs. No Retinopathy =0
- 6) CAD=1 vs. No CAD =0
- 7) COPD=1 vs. No COPD =0
- 8) Depression=1 vs. No Depression =0

All GEE models include the same set of predictor variables with one exception. The HbA1c models will use a variable for appointments in the last six months and the other models will use a variable that accounts for all visits in a year. The GEE models will all be set up using the same criteria. The models will be set up similar to logistic regression by using a binomial distribution and a logit link.

The working correlation matrix will be use the AR(1) criteria which assumes that repeated measures have an autoregressive relationship. This matrix was needed because

some patients have cases included in the sample in both the pre and post time periods. Differences are considered statistically significant at the p < .05 level. All statistical analysis was done is SPSS version 15 (116).

CHAPTER 4—RESULTS

Data was collected on 1259 diabetic patients covering 1760 cases. The pre group totaled 838 cases and the post group included 922 cases. A group of 501 patients had cases in both the pre and post periods. Additionally, 337 patients were only in the pre group and 421 patients were only in the post group. Subset analysis of just the patients with multiple cases and just those with one case were conducted and both sets of results were comparable to the findings for the entire study population. Only the results from the entire population are reported.

Demographic Comparison

Demographics are reported in Table 1 below for pre and post group patients. The only significant difference between the pre and post groups was in the percentage of uninsured patients. Before the EMR 6% of the patients were uninsured and post EMR implementation 4% were uninsured. No differences were found in the other insurance categories, gender, number of visits, or in the rates of co morbidities.

		Pre EMR	Post EMR	
		n=838	n=922	P-Value
AGE		59.73	58.76	0.120
Appt. in 6	5 months	3.33	3.40	0.457
Appt. in 1	l year	5.47	5.61	0.404
Male		40%	39%	0.916
INSURA	NCE			
Uninsure	d	6%	4%	0.029
Medicare		42%	45%	0.201
Medicaid		21%	18%	0.100
Private In	isurance	31%	33%	0.283
COMOR	BIDITIES			
Hyperten	sion	80%	80%	0.731
Hyperlipi	demia	54%	52%	0.464
Nephropa	athy	5%	4%	0.312
Neuropat	hy	14%	15%	0.655
Retinopat	thy	4%	3%	0.707
CAD		13%	12%	0.544
COPD		9%	9%	0.658
Depressio	on	16%	19%	0.165

Table 1. Demographic Comparison Pre and Post EMR

HbA1c ordering, testing, and control rates for the pre and post periods are displayed in Figure 13 below. In the pre and post period ordering and performing rates were approximately the same for all 1760 patients. The 1177 with HbA1c results were more likely in the post period to have control of their HbA1c (p=0.033).



Figure 13. HbA1c Rates Pre and Post EMR

The rates of LDL ordering, testing, and control for the pre and post periods is shown in Figure 14. In the pre and post period ordering and performing rates were approximately the same for all 1760 cases. The 1299 cases with LDL results were more likely in the post period to have control of their LDL (p<0.001).



Figure 14. LDL Rates Pre and Post EMR

Microalbumin ordering, testing, and control for the pre and post periods is shown in Figure 15. In the post period patients were more likely to have a test ordered (p<0.001) and patients were more likely to have the tests completed (p<0.001) for the entire sample of 1760 cases. Patients that had a microalbumin result were more likely to have control of their microalbumin in the post period (p<0.001).



Figure 15. Microalbumin Rates Pre and Post EMR

Measures

The primary measures of the study were to determine if implementation of the EMR was associated with changes in the frequency with which providers ordered three lab tests recommended for all diabetics. Separate analysis was done for HbA1c, LDL cholesterol, and microalbumin orders. The secondary models were used to determine if patients were more likely to have tests performed and the tertiary models were used to determine if patients were more likely to control the intermediate outcomes. This section walks through the results of the 9 GEE models that were run. The HbA1c, LDL, and microalbumin models will be shown in that order. For each lab test models are shown relating to order rates, performance rates, and control in that order.

HbA1c

The GEE model exploring the relationship of the EMR with HbA1c orders is summarized in Table 2. HbA1c tests were 26% more likely to be ordered post EMR implementation but the difference was not significant (p=0.079). Several covariates were significant in the model. Patients on Medicaid were twice as likely to have an HbA1c ordered than those on Medicare. Patients on private insurance were 70% percent more likely to have an HbA1c ordered than those on Medicare (p=0.004). Hypertensive patients were 93% more likely to have a HbA1c ordered than non hypertensives (p<0.001). Hyperlipidemic patients were 61% more likely to have an HbA1c ordered than non hyperlipidemics (p=0.002). For each additional appointment a patient has they are 22% more likely to have an HbA1c ordered (p<0.001).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	0.235	1.265	0.079	
Male	0.000	1.000	0.998	
AGE	0.003	1.003	0.561	
Uninsured	-0.515	0.598	0.064	
Medicaid	0.694	2.002	0.004	
Private	0.528	1.696	0.004	
Appt_6_months	0.201	1.223	< 0.001	
HTN	0.659	1.934	< 0.001	
HLIP	0.478	1.613	0.002	
NEPH	0.722	2.058	0.091	
NEURO	-0.148	0.862	0.481	
RETIN	-0.243	0.784	0.507	
CAD	-0.335	0.716	0.101	
COPD	0.010	1.010	0.968	
Depression	0.037	1.037	0.858	
(Intercept)	-0.118	0.889	0.777	
Variable: A1c order (yes=1)		n=1760		

 Table 2. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c Orders as the Dependent Variable.

A summary of the GEE used to explore the relationship between the EMR and HbA1c performance rates is shown in Table 3 HbA1c tests were 1% less likely to be

performed post EMR implementation but the difference was not significant (p=0.950). Several covariates were significant in the model. Uninsured patients were 62% less likely to have an HbA1c performed than those on Medicare (p<0.001). Patients on private insurance were 35% percent more likely to have an HbA1c performed than those on Medicare (p=0.030). Hypertensive patients were 64% more likely to have an HbA1c performed than non hypertensives (p<0.001). Hyperlipidemic patients were 47% more likely to have an HbA1c performed than non hypertensives (p<0.001). Hyperlipidemics (p<0.001). For each additional appointment, a patient has they are 37% more likely to have an HbA1c performed (p<0.001).

The GEE model used to assess the relationship of the EMR and HbA1c control is displayed in Table 4. Patients in the post EMR group were 20% more likely to have an HbA1c<7% than those seen pre EMR (p=0.033). Older patients were more likely to have their HbA1c<7%. For each year of age the likelihood of being controlled increased by 1% (p=0.022).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.
EMR	-0.006	0.994	0.950
Male	0.107	1.113	0.357
AGE	0.008	1.008	0.087
Uninsured	-0.967	0.380	0.000
Medicaid	0.250	1.284	0.150
Private	0.299	1.348	0.030
Appt_6_months	0.312	1.367	< 0.001
HTN	0.497	1.644	< 0.001
HLIP	0.384	1.468	0.001
NEPH	0.250	1.284	0.483
NEURO	-0.035	0.965	0.834
RETIN	0.332	1.394	0.340
CAD	-0.048	0.953	0.788
COPD	-0.054	0.947	0.794
Depression	-0.082	0.922	0.596
(Intercept)	-1.434	0.238	<0.001
Variable: A1c perfor	med (yes=1)	n=1760	

 Table 3. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c Performed as the Dependent Variable.

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	-0.229	0.795	0.033	
Male	0.149	1.161	0.272	
AGE	-0.013	0.988	0.022	
Uninsured	0.795	2.215	0.064	
Medicaid	0.211	1.235	0.264	
Private	0.181	1.198	0.244	
Appt_6_months	-0.022	0.978	0.485	
HTN	0.221	1.247	0.208	
HLIP	-0.077	0.925	0.554	
NEPH	0.001	1.001	0.999	
NEURO	0.269	1.308	0.148	
RETIN	0.367	1.444	0.319	
CAD	0.310	1.363	0.108	
COPD	-0.160	0.852	0.479	
Depression	0.159	1.172	0.353	
(Intercept)	0.753	2.124	0.067	
Variable: A1c>=7 (yes=1)		n=1177		

 Table 4. GEE Model Considering HgbA1c>=7 as the Dependent Variable.

The changes in the patterns care and outcome concerning the HbA1c is mixed. Patients were more likely to have orders done but this increase did not translate into an increase in the amount of tests performed. Patients in the post EMR group were more likely to have their HbA1c controlled than those in the pre EMR group. This suggests that the EMR may have impacted HbA1c levels but it was not due to changes in testing rates.

LDL tests were 18% more likely to be ordered post EMR implementation but the difference was not significant (p=0.213) as shown in the summary of the GEE model that looked at the relationship of the EMR to LDL orders in Table 5. Several covariates were significant in the model. Uninsured patients were 50% less likely to have an LDL ordered than Medicare patients (p=0.016). Hypertensive patients were 67% more likely to have a LDL ordered than non-hypertensives (p=0.001). Hyperlipidemic patients were 150% more likely to have a LDL ordered than non hyperlipidemics. For each additional appointment a patient has they are 16% more likely to have a LDL ordered (p<0.001).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.
EMR	0.166	1.180	0.213
Male	-0.042	0.958	0.778
AGE	-0.007	0.993	0.250
Uninsured	-0.708	0.492	0.016
Medicaid	0.395	1.485	0.083
Private	0.319	1.375	0.076
HTN	0.514	1.672	0.001
HLIP	0.939	2.556	<0.001
NEPH	-0.071	0.932	0.868
NEURO	0.138	1.148	0.565
RETIN	0.020	1.020	0.960
CAD	0.047	1.048	0.830
COPD	-0.222	0.801	0.363
Depression	-0.084	0.919	0.684
Appt_year	0.146	1.157	< 0.001
(Intercept)	0.406	1.501	0.369
 Variable: LDL ordered	(yes=1)	n=1760	

 Table 5. GEE Model Considering LDL Orders as the Dependent Variable.

LDL tests were 11% less likely to be performed post EMR implementation but the difference was not significant (p=0.327) as shown in Table 6.Several covariates were significant in the model. Uninsured patients were 52% less likely to have an LDL performed than Medicare patients (p=0.004). Hypertensive patients were 74% more likely to have a LDL performed than non hypertensives (p<0.001). Hyperlipidemic patients were 125% more likely to have a LDL performed than non hyperlipidemics (p<0.001). For each additional appointment, a patient has they are 21% more likely to have a LDL performed (p<0.001).

The GEE model looking at the relationship of the EMR to LDL control shown in Table 7 found that patients in the post EMR group were 34% more likely to have a LDL<100 than those in the pre group with a significant (p<0.001). Older patients were more likely to have their LDL<100. For each year of age the likelihood of being controlled increased by 3% (p<0.001). Several covariates were significant in the model. Hyperlipidemic patients were 36% more likely to have a LDL <100 (p=0.015). For each additional appointment a patient has they are 3% more likely to have a LDL<100 (p=0.048).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	-0.114	0.892	0.327	
Male	-0.109	0.897	0.375	
AGE	-0.001	0.999	0.792	
Uninsured	-0.783	0.457	0.004	
Medicaid	0.146	1.158	0.420	
Private	0.184	1.202	0.213	
HTN	0.554	1.740	< 0.001	
HLIP	0.811	2.250	< 0.001	
NEPH	-0.165	0.848	0.648	
NEURO	-0.158	0.854	0.374	
RETIN	0.520	1.682	0.160	
CAD	0.135	1.144	0.458	
COPD	-0.176	0.839	0.383	
Depression	0.041	1.042	0.802	
Appt_year	0.189	1.209	< 0.001	
(Intercept)	-0.569	0.566	0.130	
Variable: LDL perfor	med (yes=1)	n=1760		

 Table 6. GEE Model Considering LDL Performed as the Dependent Variable.

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	-0.413	0.662	<0.001	
Male	-0.354	0.702	0.008	
AGE	-0.026	0.974	0.000	
Uninsured	-0.063	0.939	0.858	
Medicaid	-0.176	0.839	0.346	
Private	-0.173	0.841	0.264	
HTN	0.197	1.217	0.245	
HLIP	0.310	1.364	0.015	
NEPH	-0.164	0.849	0.586	
NEURO	-0.020	0.980	0.912	
RETIN	0.309	1.363	0.406	
CAD	-0.160	0.852	0.394	
COPD	0.205	1.228	0.351	
Depression	-0.112	0.894	0.505	
Appt_year	-0.035	0.965	0.048	
(Intercept)	2.125	8.377	<0.001	
Variable: LDL>=	100 (yes=1)	n=1299		

 Table 7. GEE Model Considering LDL>=100 as the Dependent Variable.

The results for the LDL test are somewhat similar to what is seen with the HbA1c. Order rates went up slightly but the change was not significant. Once again the changes in order rates did not translate into increase numbers of patients performing the tests. It was found that patients in the post period were more likely to control their LDL levels.

Microalbumin

Microalbumin order rates and their relationship with the EMR were analyzed in the GEE model summarized in Table 8. Microalbumin tests were 147% more likely to be ordered post EMR implementation and the difference was significant (p<0.001). Several covariates were significant in the model. Older patients were less likely to have a microalbumin ordered. For each year of age they were 1% less likely to have an order (p=0.006). Patients with private insurance were 34% more likely to have a microalbumin ordered than Medicare patients (p=0.025). Hypertensive patients were 40% more likely to have a microalbumin ordered than non hypertensives (p=0.016). Hyperlipidemic patients were 44% more likely to have a microalbumin ordered than non hyperlipidemics (p=0.001).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	0.904	2.471	<0.001	
Male	-0.084	0.920	0.461	
AGE	-0.012	0.988	0.006	
Uninsured	-0.063	0.939	0.813	
Medicaid	0.236	1.266	0.139	
Private	0.291	1.337	0.025	
HTN	0.338	1.403	0.016	
HLIP	0.365	1.441	0.001	
NEPH	0.396	1.486	0.190	
NEURO	0.181	1.198	0.236	
RETIN	-0.085	0.918	0.810	
CAD	0.068	1.071	0.683	
COPD	-0.162	0.851	0.392	
Depression	0.111	1.118	0.425	
Appt_year	0.029	1.029	0.075	
(Intercept)	-0.740	0.477	0.022	
Variable: Micr	oalbumin performed (y	ves=1)	n=1760	

 Table 8. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin Orders as the Dependent Variable.
The GEE model assessing the relationship of microalbumin performance rates and the EMR is summarized in Table 9. Microalbumin tests were 98% more likely to be performed post EMR implementation and the difference was significant (p<.001). Several covariates were significant in the model. Older patients were less likely to have a microalbumin ordered. For each year of age they were 1% less likely to have a test performed (p=0.011). Patients with private insurance were 37% more likely to have a microalbumin performed than Medicare patients (p=0.017). Hypertensive patients were 51% more likely to have a microalbumin performed than non hypertensives (p=0.005). Hyperlipidemic patients were 53% more likely to have a microalbumin performed than non-hyperlipidemics (p<0.001).

Microalbumin control was improved after EMR implementation based on results of the GEE model shown in Table 10. Patients in the post period were 55% more likely to have a microalbumin<20 than those in the pre period (p<0.001). Patients with CAD were 129% more likely to have a poorly controlled microalbumin over 20 (p=0.005).

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	0.683	1.981	<0.001	
Male	-0.161	0.851	0.165	
AGE	-0.011	0.989	0.011	
Uninsured	-0.375	0.687	0.214	
Medicaid	0.187	1.206	0.251	
Private	0.315	1.370	0.017	
HTN	0.417	1.517	0.005	
HLIP	0.426	1.531	< 0.001	
NEPH	0.434	1.544	0.127	
NEURO	0.154	1.167	0.324	
RETIN	0.000	1.000	0.999	
CAD	0.173	1.189	0.292	
COPD	-0.192	0.825	0.341	
Depression	-0.079	0.924	0.580	
Appt_year	0.049	1.050	0.003	
(Intercept)	-1.226	0.294	< 0.001	
Variable: Microalb	Variable: Microalbumin performed (yes=1) n=1760			

 Table 9. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin Performed as the Dependent Variable.

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.	
EMR	-0.808	0.446	< 0.001	
Male	-0.171	0.843	0.400	
AGE	-0.009	0.991	0.245	
Uninsured	0.176	1.193	0.734	
Medicaid	0.268	1.307	0.315	
Private	-0.255	0.775	0.253	
HTN	0.022	1.022	0.936	
HLIP	-0.020	0.981	0.918	
NEPH	0.769	2.159	0.071	
NEURO	0.392	1.480	0.102	
RETIN	0.788	2.199	0.215	
CAD	0.827	2.287	0.005	
COPD	-0.488	0.614	0.187	
Depression	-0.194	0.823	0.414	
Appt_year	-0.008	0.992	0.797	
(Intercept)	0.779	2.179	0.206	
Variable: Microalbumin>=20(yes=1)			n=594	

Table 10. GEE Model Considering Microalbumin>=20 as the Dependent Variable.

Microalbumin order and performing rates both increased significantly in the post period. The rates of control also improved significantly.

Table 11 gives a summary of the impact of the EMR on the dependent variables as found in the different GEE models.

	Beta	Odds Ratio	Sig.
 Control			
A1c>=7	-0.229	0.795	0.033
LDL>=100	-0.413	0.662	< 0.001
Microalbumin >=20	-0.808	0.446	< 0.001
Tests Ordered			
HbA1c Order	0.235	1.265	0.079
LDL Ordered	0.166	1.180	0.213
Microalbumin Ordered	0.904	2.471	< 0.001
Tests Completed			
A1c Completed	-0.006	0.994	0.950
LDL Completed	-0.114	0.892	0.327
Microalbumin Completed	0.683	1.981	< 0.001

Table 11. Summary of the EMR Impact from the GEE Models

The order rates for all 3 tests increased post EMR but the change was statistically insignificant for the HbA1c and LDL orders. The performance rates for the microalbumin increased but the rates for the other tests did not. Interestingly, all 3 intermediate outcomes were more likely to be controlled post EMR.

CHAPTER 5—DISCUSSION

All of the null hypotheses are rejected. The odds of a patient having diabetic testing ordered increased for at least one measure after EMR implementation. The odds of a patient having diabetic testing performed increased for at least one measure after EMR implementation. The odds of a patient having control over their intermediate diabetic markers increased for all three measures after EMR implementation. The study found that the implementation of the EMR coincided with an increase in the order rates of microalbumin tests and with an improved control of HbA1c, LDL, and microalbumin.

The HbA1c and the LDL measures followed similar patterns. The order and performance rates were approximately the same in both the pre and post time periods. However the ordering and performance patterns of microalbumin testing did improve.

The microalbumin order rates were the most likely to increase significantly because the order rates pre EMR were very low. The order rates of the HbA1c and LDL were high in the pre period which left little room for improvement. Despite the improvement seen in the microalbumin order rates, substantial room for improvement exists. It is, however, unclear if changing ordering rates is needed as a disassociation of order rates and intermediate outcomes was observed. This disassociation between guidelines and outcomes is a known phenomenon and has been observed during diabetes quality improvement studies (105, 106, 114). This is reflected in the guidelines as the level of evidence for the orders that were used as dependent variables is all based on expert opinion and not on scientific studies (15).

The results of this study and prior studies agree that a disassociation occurs. Prior studies saw changes in testing rates while this study is seeing changes in intermediate outcomes. The reason for the discrepancy is unknown and could very well be due to differences in the characteristics of the EMRs used.

The differences in our findings from prior research could have occurred for a variety of reasons. The baseline order and testing rates were much higher in this sample than the sample used in prior studies. This fact limits the opportunity to have a positive impact on order rates. Similar results have been seen when research was done on reminder systems (117).

Although the EMR implementation was associated with improved intermediate outcomes, the changes in HbA1c and LDL control rates were not achieved by changing the order rates of lab tests. That leaves the question of what aspect of the EMR may have influenced the control rates. Based on the Donabedian model one would expect changes in outcomes to be related to changes in order and testing rates which was not always the case. This may also be associated with the fact that the process for getting results reviewed by physicians has been changed. Results come in electronically and physicians are electronically tasked to verify the results in a timely manner. Prior research has suggested that providers could offer better care if systems were in place to get results to them in efficient manners (118). It has also shown that these efficiencies may lead to quicker treatment of problems (119). Regardless of the relationship between results and medication management it is necessary to also consider that the system may have impacted prescribing which led to changes in intermediate outcomes.

Limitations

It was not possible to conclusively show cause and effect due to the nature of the research design. A control group was not available to determine if the effects observed were particular to our research group or if they were part of unmeasured factors causing the observed changes. The differences could have occurred due to outside factors. One potential factor is the clinic participated in a diabetes quality reporting project during this time period. However, that project worked with claims data only thus it is doubtful that it had much effect. It is doubtful a physician would look at the tools for the project during a visit. Further, the project did not cover microalbumin so it would not be associated with changes with that test. The residents go through a three year program so the physician group changes every year. This may play a role because individual physicians do vary but

the faculty staff is fairly consistent which likely tempers any impact that physicians changing could have.

Only one EMR was considered in this study, however, it was certified by The Certification Commission for Healthcare Information Technology (CCHIT) which means it has met certain standardized recommendations for EMRs. The CCHIT is pushing to increase adoption of EMRs by developing a credible credentialing system. The CCHIT is pushing for EMRs to interoperable, secure, and to offer useful clinical information (120).

The time frame of the study was brief only looking at one year for each time period. The EMR may not have its full effect for several years or it is possible that the changes that were seen could degrade in the future once a certain comfort level with the EMR is realized.

The study was done in a residency program so the changing of physicians may have contributed to the differences. Unfortunately, due to the nature of the clinic, continuity of care is poor so accounting for the physician was not possible. However, prior studies have shown that in most cases the physicians themselves have little impact on the variations in diabetes care (81, 85, 95, 97, 99, 102-104).

Strengths

This study does use a CCHIT certified EMR which partially resolves the problem of all EMRs being different. This study may not be generalizable to all EMRs but it may be to other certified EMRs. Generalizability is still challenged because even if an EMR has functionality providers may not take advantage of it.

Microalbumin is typically not considered in projects similar to this. It is however an important test that is an excellent indicator of long term complications. While this study considered only a small set of the guidelines the addition of the microalbumin was valuable because it is an item that was often not ordered in the clinic in the study.

The study takes full advantage of the data in the EMR and therefore can look at the variables in multiple ways. This allowed for a more accurate view of how physician behavior changes, patient compliance, and outcomes. Without the EMR separating the physician changes and patient compliance would have been extremely difficult.

Conclusions

The EMR was associated with improvements across the board on intermediate outcomes but those changes cannot be attributed to physicians changing their ordering patterns as tested in this study. The EMR used in this study did have a system to remind physicians of routine orders however it was not integrated enough with the rest of the product for it to be useful. The reminders did not recognize when orders were placed and reset. Also the reminders had to be set up for each individual process. In the end the reminder system took far too much time for most of the providers to use. The EMR offers the promise of better care delivered more efficiently. This will not occur until the practice of medicine is modified to take advantage of the tools the EMR has to offer. The EMR is a warehouse of data that in many situations can be easily queried. The system studied here had a backend tool that was used to extract data for this study. Those same extraction tools could be used to enhance healthcare. For instance, it is easy to identify all the diabetics that have not had an HbA1c done in the last 6 months. Providers could simply have a person generate this list and have them review notes to discover why tests have not been ordered. In this study, close to 20% of diabetics that came in did not have an order for an HbA1c. A member of the clinical staff could follow up on these patients to determine why the guidelines were not followed. In some instances, the diabetes may be followed and treated by another physician while, in other cases, the order may not have been placed because the patient has controlled their diabetes for a long time period and the test is not clinically necessary. In some cases the clinician may have forgotten to order the test.

Recommendations for Future Work

Further work on the impact of EMRs is needed. One problem with EMR research is that all EMRs are different. Working with programs that are CCHIT certified is highly recommended because it allows for the results to be generalized to other systems with the same certification. Work should also be done to look at how using the data in EMRs could be studied and implemented to change how healthcare is provided. Data mining is a simple task in many EMRs but few have used this feature as a tool to enhance care. Work should also be done in pursuit of the exact mechanisms that caused the change seen in outcomes. One possible cause is the electronic prescribing. Assuming this link could be shown, it would add more evidence to the need for electronic prescribing.

REFERENCES

- 1. Institute of Medicine available at: www.iom.edu accessed October 11, 2007
- 2. Kohn KT, Corrigan JM, Donaldson MS. To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 1999
- 3. Committee on Quality of Healthcare in America, Institute of Medicine. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
- 4. Committee on Data Standards for Patient Safety, Institute of Medicine, Key Capabilities of an Electronic Health Record System, Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2003.
- 5. Jha A., Ferris T., Donelan, K., DesRoches, C., Shields, A., Rosenbaum, S., and D. Blumenthal. "How Common Are Electronic Health Records in the United States? A Summary of the Evidence". Health Affairs Web Exclusive 496. October 2006.
- 6. Burt C., and Sisk J. Which Physicians And Practices Are Using Electronic Medical Records?, Health Affairs, Vol 24, Issue 5, 1334-1343
- 7. Moore G, Crossing the Chasm. Harvard Business, 1991.
- Hillestad R, Bigelow J, Bower A, Girosi F, Meili R, Scoville R, and Taylor R, Can Electronic Medical Record Systems Transform Health Care? Potential Health Benefits, Savings, And Costs, Health Affairs, Vol 24, Issue 5, 1103-1117 (15)
- 9. Glover JA: The incidence of tonsillectomy in school children. Proc R Soc Med 31:1219–1236, 1938
- 10. Charles E. Lewis, "Variations in the Incidence of Surgery," New England Journal of Medicine, Vol. 281, No. 16 (Oct. 16, 1969), p. 880-884
- 11. John Wennberg and Alan Gittelsohn, "Variations in Medical Care among Small Areas," Scientific American, (April 1982), pp. 122-123.

- Schwartz, Lisa M., Woloshin, Steven, Wasson, John H., Renfrew, Roger A. & Welch, H. Gilbert (1999) Setting the Revisit Interval in Primary Care . Journal of General Internal Medicine 14 (4), 230-235
- 13. Chilingerian, J.A. Managing physician efficiency and effectiveness in providing hospital services. Health Serv Manage Res. 1990 Mar;3(1):3-15.
- 14. American Diabetes Association available at http://www.diabetes.org/home.jsp accessed 9/12/07
- 15. American Diabetes Association: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes–2006. Diabetes Care 29:S4–S42, 2006
- 16. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. National Diabetes Statistics fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States, 2003. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2003. Rev. ed. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2004.
- 17. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System. Data computed by the Division of Diabetes Translation, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Donabedian, A. Explorations in Quality Assessment and Monitoring Vol. 1. The Definition of Quality and Approaches to Its Assessment . Ann Arbor, MI: Health Administration Press, 1980.
- 19. National Diabetes Education Program available at: http://ndep.nih.gov/ accessed 2/11/08
- 20. American Diabetes Association: Consensus statement on self-monitoring of blood glucose. Diabetes Care 10:95-99, 1987
- 21. American Diabetes Association: Self-monitoring of blood glucose. Diabetes Care 17:81-86, 1994
- 22. Sacks DB, Bruns DE, Goldstein DE, Maclaren NK, McDonald JM, Parrott M: Guidelines and recommendations for laboratory analysis in the diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem 48:436-472, 2002
- 23. Rohlfing CL, Wiedmeyer H-M, Little RR, England JD, Tennill A, Goldstein DE: Denning the relationship between plasma glucose and HbA1c.: analysis

of glucose profiles and HbA1c in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabetes Care 25:275-278, 2002

- 24. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group: The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 329: 977-986, 1993
- 25. The Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group: Prevention of cardiovascular events and death with Pravastatin in patients with coronary heart disease and a broad range of initial cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med 339:1349-1357, 1998
- 26. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group: MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol-lowering with Simvastatin in 5963 people with diabetes: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 361:2005-2016, 2003
- 27. Frick MH, Leo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V, et al.: Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia: safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 317:1237-1245, 1987
- 28. Lawson ML, Gerstein HC, Tsui E, Zinman B: Effect of intensive therapy on early macrovascular disease in young individuals with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 22 (Suppl. 2):B35-B39, 1999
- 29. Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, Hadden D, Turner RC, Holman RR: Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ 321:405-412, 2000
- 30. Norris SL, Engelgau MM, Narayan KM: Effectiveness of self-management training in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Care 24:561-587, 2001
- 31. Norris SL, Lau J, Smith SJ, Schmid CH, Engelgau MM: Self-management education for adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of the effect on glycemic control. Diabetes Care 25:1159-1171, 2002
- Gary TL, Genkinger JM, Guallar E, Peyrot M, Brancati FL: Meta-analysis of randomized educational and behavioral interventions in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 29:488-501, 2003

- Steed L, Cooke D, Newman S: A systematic review of psychosocial outcomes following education, self-management and psychological interventions in diabetes mellitus. Patient Educ Couns 51:5-15, 2003
- 34. Ellis SE, Speroff T, Dittus RS, Brown A, Pichert JW, Elasy TA: Diabetes patient education: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Patient Educ Couns 52:97-105, 2004
- 35. Warsi A, Wang PS, LaValley MP, Avorn J, Solomon DH: Self-management education programs in chronic disease: a systematic review and methodological critique of the literature. Arch Intern Med 164:1641-1649, 2004
- 36. Anderson RJ, Grigsby AB, Freedland KE, de Groot M, McGill JB, Clouse RE, Lustman PJ: Anxiety and poor glycemic control: a meta-analytic review of the literature. Int J Psychiatry Med 32:235-247, 2002
- 37. Jacobson AM: Depression and diabetes. Diabetes Care 16:1621-1623, 1993
- Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Clouse RE, Cryer PE: Psychiatric illness in diabetes mellitus: relationship to symptoms and glucose control. J Nerv Ment Dis 174: 736-742, 1986
- 39. Rubin RR, Peyrot M: Psychosocial problems and interventions in diabetes: a review of the literature. Diabetes Care 15: 1640-1657, 1992
- 40. Surwit RS, Schneider MS, Feinglos MN: Stress and diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 15:1413-1422, 1992
- Young-Hyman D: Psycosocial factors affecting adherence, quality of life, and well-being: helping patients cope. In Medical Management of Type 1 Diabetes. 4th ed. Bode B, Ed. Alexandria, VA, American Diabetes Association, 2004, p. 162-182
- 42. Colquhoun AJ, Nicholson KG, Botha JL, Raymond NT: Effectiveness of influenza vaccine in reducing hospital admissions in people with diabetes. Epidemiol Infect 119:335-341, 1997
- 43. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL Jr, Jones DW, Materson BJ, Oparil S, Wright JT Jr, Roccella EJ: The seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 289:2560-2572, 2003

- 44. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group: Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. BMJ 317:703-713, 1998
- 45. Hansson L, Zanchetti A, Carruthers SG, Dahlof B, Elmfeldt D, Julius S, Menard J, Rahn KH, Wedel H, Westerling S, HOT Study Group: Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. Lancet 351:1755-1762, 1998
- 46. Adler AI, Stratum IM, Neil HA, Yudkin JS, Matthews DR, Cull CA, Wright AD, Turner RC, Holman RR: Association of systolic blood pressure with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 36): prospective observational study. BMJ 321:412-419, 2000
- 47. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R: Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 360:1903-1913, 2002
- 48. Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, Wentworth D: Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Diabetes Care 16: 434-444, 1993
- 49. Pyorala K, Pedersen TR, Kjekshus J, Faergeman O, Olsson AG, Thorgeirsson G: Cholesterol lowering with simvastatin improves prognosis of diabetic patients with coronary heart disease: a subgroup analysis of the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). Diabetes Care 20:614-620, 1997
- 50. Sacks FM, PfefferMA, Moye LA, Rouleau JL, Rutherford JD, Cole TG, Brown L, Warnica JW, Arnold JM, Wun CC, Davis BR, Braunwald E: The effect of pravastatin on coronary events after myocardial infarction in patients with average cholesterol levels: Cholesterol and Recurrent Events Trial investigators. N Engl J Med 335:1001-1009, 1996
- 51. The Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease (LIPID) Study Group: Prevention of cardiovascular events and death with pravastatin in patients with coronary heart disease and a broad range of initial cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med 339:1349-1357, 1998
- 52. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group: MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol-lowering with simvastatin in 5963 people with diabetes: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 361:2005-2016, 2003

- 53. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V, et al.: Helsinki Heart Study: primaryprevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia: safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 317:1237-1245, 1987
- 54. Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Collins D, Fye CL, Anderson JW, Elam MB, Faas FH, Linares E, Schaefer EJ, Schectman G, Wilt TJ, Wittes J: Gemfibrozil for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in men with low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Intervention Trial Study Group. N Engl J Med 341:410-418, 1999
- 55. Colhoun HM, Betteridge DJ, Durrington PN, Hitman GA, Neil HA, Livingstone SJ, Thomason MJ, Mackness MI, Charlton-MenysV, Fuller JH: Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with atorvastatin in type 2 diabetes in the Collaborative Atorvastatin Diabetes Study (CARDS): multicentre randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 364:685-696, 2004
- 56. Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, Rader DJ, Rouleau JL, Belder R, Joyal SV, Hill KA, Pfeffer MA, Skene AM: Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 350:1495-1504, 2004
- 57. de Lemos JA, Blazing MA, Wiviott SD, Lewis EF, Fox KA, White HD, Rouleau JL, Pedersen TR, Gardner LH, Mukherjee R, Ramsey KE, Palmisano J, Bilheimer DW, Pfeffer MA, Califf RM, Braunwald E: Early intensive vs a delayed conservative simvastatin strategy in patients with acute coronary syndromes: phase Z of the A to Z trial. JAMA 292:1307-1316, 2004
- 58. Nissen SE, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Brown BG, Ganz P, Vogel RA, Crowe T, Howard G, Cooper CJ, Brodie B, Grines CL, DeMaria AN: Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 291:1071-1080, 2004
- 59. Arauz-Pacheco C, Parrott MA, Raskin P: The treatment of hypertension in adult patients with diabetes. Diabetes Care 25: 134-147, 2002
- 60. Haffner SM: Management of dyslipidemia in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care 21:160-178, 1998
- 61. Colwell JA: Aspirin therapy in diabetes. Diabetes Care 20:1767-1771, 1997

- 62. Haire-Joshu D, Glasgow RE, Tibbs TL: Smoking and diabetes. Diabetes Care 22: 1887-1898, 1999
- 63. American Diabetes Association: Consensus development conference on the diagnosis of coronary heart disease in people with diabetes: 10-11 February 1998, Miami, Florida. Diabetes Care 21: 1551-1559, 1998
- 64. Narayan KMV, Boyle JP, Thompson TJ. Sorensen SW, Williamson DF. Lifetime risk for diabetes mellitus in the United States. JAMA. 2003;290: 1884–1890.
- 65. Fox CS, Coady S, Sorlie PD, et al. Trends in cardiovascular complications of diabetes. JAMA. 2004;292:2495-2499.
- 66. Wake N, Hisashige A, Katayama T, et al. Costeffectiveness of intensive insulin therapy for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000;48:201-210.
- 67. Marks JB, Raskin P. Cardiovascular risk in diabetics: a brief review. Journal of Diabetes Complications. 2000; 14:108-115
- 68. Rowe S, MacLean CM, Shekelle PG. Preventing visual loss from chronic eye disease in primary care: scientific review. JAMA. 2004;291:1487-1496.
- 69. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1993;329:977-986.
- 70. US Renal Data System, USRDS 2002 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. Bethesda, Md: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2002.
- 71. Engelgau MM, Geiss LS, Manninen DL, Orians CE, Wagner EH, Friedman NM, et al. Use of services by diabetes patients in managed care organizations. Development of a diabetes surveillance system. CDC Diabetes in Managed Care Work Group. Diabetes Care. 1998;21:2062-8.
- 72. Jenks S, Huff E, and Cuerdon T, Change in the Quality of Care Delivered to Medicare Beneficiaries 1998-1999 to 2000-2001. JAMA, 2003;280:305-312
- 73. Kerr EA, Gerzoff RB, Krein SL, Selby JV, Piette JD, Curb JD, Herman WH, Marrero DG, Narayan KM, Safford MM, Thompson T, Mangione CM: Diabetes care quality in the Veterans Affairs Health Care System and

commercial managed care: the TRIAD study. Ann Intern Med 141:272–281, 2004

- 74. Saaddine JB, Cadwel B, Gregg EW, Engelgau MM, Vinicor F, Imperator G, Narayan KM: Improvements in diabetes processes of care and intermediate outcomes: United States 1988–2002. Ann Intern Med 144: 465–474, 2006
- 75. Ornstein SM, Jenkins RG, MacFarlane LL, Glaser A, Snyder K, Gundrum T. Electronic medical records as tools for quality improvement in ambulatory practice: theory and a case study, Topics in Health Information Management, 1998, 19(2), p. 35-43.
- 76. Beckles GLA, Engelgau MM, Narayan KMV, Herman WH, Aubert RE, Williamson DF: Population-based assessment of the level of care among adults with diabetes in the U.S. Diabetes Care 21:1432–1438, 1998
- 77. Harris MI, Health care and health status and outcomes for patients with type 2 diabetes, Diabetes Care 23 (2000) (6), pp. 754–758.
- 78. Bryant W, Greenfield JR, Chisholm DJ, Campbell LV. Diabetes guidelines: easier to preach than to practise? Med J Aust 2006; 185: 305-309.Hussain KA, Kelton GM. Utilization of health care quality markers in a family medicine outpatient setting. Fam Med J. 2006;38:490-493.McGlynn EA, Asch SM, Adams J, et al. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. New England Journal of Medicine 2003 Jun 26; 348(26):2635-45.
- 79. Mokdad AH, Bowman BA, Ford ES, Vinicor F, Marks JS, Koplan JP. The continuing epidemics of obesity and diabetes in the United States. JAMA. 2001 Sep 12;286(10):1195–1200.
- Geiss L, Engelgau M, Pogach L, Acton K, Fleming B, Roman S, Han L, Wang J, Vinicor F: A national progress report on diabetes: successes and challenges. Diabetes Technol Ther 7:198–203, 2005
- 81. Khunti K. Use of Multiple Methods to Determine Factors Affecting Quality of Care of Patients with Diabetes. Family Practice 1999; 16: 489-494.
- 82. Arday D, Fleming B, Keller D, Pendergrass P, Vaughn R, Turpin J and Nicewander D, "Variation in Diabetes Care Among States. Do Patient Characteristics Matter?" Diabetes Care, 2002; 25: 2230-2237
- Murata G, Duckworth Wn Shah J, Wendel C and Hoffman R, "Sources of Glucose Variablility in Insulin-treated Type 2 Diabetes: The Diabetes Outcomes in Veterans Study (DOVES)" Clinical Endocrinology, 2004; 60: 451-456

- Bebb, C., Kendrick, D., Stewart, J., Coupland, C., Madeley, R., Brown, K., Burden, R. & Sturrock, N. (2005) Inequalities in glycaemic control in patients with Type 2 diabetes in primary care. Diabetic Medicine 22 (10), 1364-1371.
- 85. Pringle M, Stewart-Evans C, Coupland C, Williams I, Allison S, Sterland J. Influences on control in diabetes mellitus: patient, doctor, practice, or delivery of care? BMJ 1993; 306: 630-634
- Goudswaard AN, Stolk RP, Zuithoff RP, Rutten GE. Patient characteristics do not predict poor glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes patients treated in primary care. Eur J Epidemiol 2004; 19: 541–545
- 87. Brandle M, Zhou H, Smith B, Marriott D, Burke R, Tabaei B, Brown M and Herman W, "The Direct Medical Cost of Type 2 Diabetes." Diabetes Care, 2003; 26: 2300-2312
- 88. Spann S, Nutting P, Galliher J, Peterson K, Dickinson L and Volk R,
 "Management of Type 2 Diabetes in the Primary Care Setting: A Practice-Based Research Network Study" Annals of Family Medicine, 2006; 4: 23-31
- 89. Pan XR, Li GW, Hu YH, Wang JX, Yang WY, An ZX, Hu ZX, Lin J, Xiao JZ, Cao HB, Liu PA, Jiang XG, Jiang YY, Wang JP, Zheng H, Zhang H, Bennett PH, Howard BV: Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance: the Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care 20:537–544, 1997
- 90. Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M, Louheranta A, Rastas M, Salminen V, Uusitupa M: Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 344:1343–1350, 2001
- 91. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Nathan DM: Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 346:393–403, 2002
- 92. Karter A, Ferrara A, Liu J, Moffet H, Ackerson L and Selby J, "Ethnic Disparities in Diabetic Complications in an Insured Population" JAMA; 2002: 287; 2519-2527
- 93. Brown JB, Harris SB, Webster-Bogaert S, Wetmore S, Faulds C, Stewart M. The role of patient, physician and systemic factors in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Family Practice 2002; 19: 344–349.

- 94. Khunti K, Ganguli S and Lowy A, "Inequalities in Provision of Systematic Care for Patients with Diabetes" Family Practice, 2001; 18: 27-32
- 95. Campbell S, Hann M, Hacker J, Burns C, Oliver D, Thapar A, Mead N, Gelb Safran D and Roland M, "Identifying Predictors of High Quality Care in English General Practice: Observational Study" BMJ 2001; 323: 784-788
- 96. Hsu J, Price M, Huang J, Brand R, Fung V, Hui R, Fireman B, Newhouse J and Selby J, "Unintended Consequences of Caps on Medicare Drug Benefits" New England Journal of Medicine, 2006; 354: 2349-2359
- 97. Pham H, Schrag D, Hargraves J and Bach P, "Delivery of Preventive Services to Older Adults by Primary Care Physicians" JAMA, 2005; 294: 473-481
- 98. Ciechanowski P, Katon W, Russo J and Walker E, "The Patient-Provider Relationship: Attachment Theory and Adherence to Treatment in Diabetes" American Journal of Psychiatry, 2001; 158:29-35
- 99. Helseth L, Susman J, Crabtree B and O'Connor P, "Primary Care Physicians' Perceptions of Diabetes Management: A Balancing Act." Journal of Family Practice, 1999, 48; 37-48
- 100. Khunti K, Ganguli S, Baker R and Lowy A, "Features of Primary Care Associated with Variations in Process and Outcome of care of People with Diabetes" British journal of Family Practice, 2001; 51: 356-360
- Hertz R, Unger A and Lustik M, "Adherence with Pharmacotherapy for Type 2 Diabetes: A Retrospective Cohort Study of Adults with Employer-Sponsored Healht Insurance" Clinical Therapeutics, 2005; 27: 1064-1073
- 102. Hofer T, Hayward R, Greenfield S, Wagner E, Kaplan S and Manning W, "The unreliability of individual Physician report cards for assessing the costs and quality of care of a chronic disease" 1999; 281: 2098-2105
- 103. Krein SL, Hofer TP, Kerr EA, Hayward RA: Whom should we profile? Examining diabetes care practice variation among primary care providers, provider groups, and health care facilities. Health Serv Res 37: 1159–1180, 2002
- Hansen LJ, Olivarius Nde F, Siersma V, Andersen JS. Doctors' characteristics do not predict long-term glycaemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. Br J Gen Pract 2003; 53: 47–49.
- 105. Mangione CM, Gerzoff RB, Williamson DF, Steers WN, Kerr EA, Brown AF, Waitzfelder BE, Marrero DG, Dudley RA, Kim C, Herman W, Thompson

TJ, Safford MM, Selby JV: The association between quality of care and the intensity of diabetes disease management programs. Ann Intern Med 145:107–116, 2006

- 106. Jones D, Curry W. Impact of a PDA-based diabetes electronic management system in a primary care office. Am J Med Qual. 2006;216: 401–407.
- 107. Balas EA, Weingarten S, Garb CT, Blumenthal D, boren SA, Brown GD: Improving preventive care by prompting physicians. Arch Intern Med 2000, 160:301-308.
- Sequist TD, Gandhi TK, Karson AS, et al. A randomized trial of electronic clinical reminders to improve quality of care for diabetes and coronary artery disease. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 2005 Jul-Aug; 12(4):431-7.
- 109. Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF :Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. BMJ 2005, 330:765-8.
- 110. Gill JM, Foy AJ, Ling Y. Quality of outpatient care for diabetes mellitus in a national electronic health record network. Am J Med Quality 2006;21(1):13-6.
- 111. Ornstein SM, Jenkins RG: Quality of Care for Chronic Illness in Primary Care: Opportunity for Improvement in Process and Outcome Measures. The American Journal of Managed Care. 1999; 5(5):621-627
- 112. O'Connor PJ, Desai J, Solberg LI, et al. Randomized trial of qualityimprovement intervention to improve diabetes care in primary care settings. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:1890-1897.
- 113. Welch WP, Bazarko D, Ritten K, Burgess Y, Harmon R, and Sandy LG. Electronic health records in four community physician practices: impact on quality and cost of care. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2007. May–Jun; 14:(3):320–8.
- O'Connor PJ, Crain AL, Rush WA, Sperl-Hillen JM, Gutenkauf JJ, Duncan JE. Impact of an electronic medical record on diabetes quality of care. Ann Fam Med. 2005;3:300-306.
- 115. Zeger S amd Linag K, Longitudinal Data Analysis for Discrete and Continuous Outcomes, Biometrics, 1986; 42:121-130
- 116. SPSS for Windows, Rel. 15.0.0. 2006. Chicago: SPSS Inc.

- 117. Matheney ME, Sequist TD, Seger AC, Fiskio JM, Sperling M, Bugbee D, Bates DW, Gandhi TK, A Randomized Trial of Electronic Clinical Reminders to Improve Medication Laboratory Monitoring, J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc., July 1, 2008; 15(4): 424 - 429.
- 118. Murff HJ, Gandhi TK, Karson AK, Mort EA, Poon EG, Wang SJ, Fairchild DG, Bates DW. Primary care physician attitudes concerning follow-up of abnormal test results and ambulatory decision support systems, Int J Med Inf. 2003 Sep; 71(2-3): 137-49.
- 119. Kuperman GJ, Teich JM, Tanasijevic MJ, Ma'Luf N, Rittenberg E, Jha A, Fiskio J, Winkelman J, Bates DW, Improving response to critical laboratory results with automation: results of a randomized controlled trial. J Am Med Inform Assoc 1999 Nov-Dec; 6(6):512-22.
- 120. Certification Commission for Healthcare Information technology, http://www.cchit.org/about/index.asp, accessed 10/01/08

APPENDIX: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL FORM

	HE UNIVERSITY OF LABAMA AT BIRMINGHAN	Л		
Ins	titutional Review Board for Human Use			
	Form 4: IRB App Identification and Certifi Projects Involving H	roval Form cation of Research uman Subjects		
UAB's Institutional Rev Human Research Protec Guidelines. The Assurar number is FWA0000596	iew Boards for Human Use (IRBs) have a tions (OHRP). The UAB IRBs are also in nee became effective on November 24, 20 50.	n approved Federalwide Assurance with the Office for compliance with 21 CFR Parts 50 and 56 and ICH GCP 03 and expires on October 26, 2010. The Assurance		
Principal Investigator:	ENGLISH, THOMAS M			
Co-Investigator(s):				
Protocol Number:	Number: X080404002			
Protocol Title:	otocol Title: Impact of an Electronic Medical Record on Adherence to Current Diabetes Guidelines in a Family Medicine Center			
This project received E3 IRB Approval Date: <u>4</u> Date IRB Approval Issu	KPEDITED review. $-15 - O R$ ed: $\frac{4}{15}/0 8$	Marien Das		
HIPAA Waiver Approved Partial HIPAA Waiver Ap	i?: Yes oproved?: No	Marilyn Doss, M.A. Vice Chair of the Institutional Review Board for Human Use (IRB)		
Investigators please note	2:			
The IRB approved	consent form used in the study must conta	in the IRB approval date and expiration date.		
IRB approval is giv may not continue p	en for one year unless otherwise noted. F ast the one year anniversary of the IRB ap	or projects subject to annual review research activities proval date.		
Any modifications to the IRB prior to i	in the study methodology, protocol and/or implementation.	consent form must be submitted for review and approval		
Adverse Events and reported promptly t	d/or unanticipated risks to subjects or othe o the IRB.	rs at UAB or other participating institutions must be		
	470 Administration Building 701 20th Street South 205,934.3789 Fax 205,934.1301 irb@uab.edu	The University of Alabama at Birmingham Mailing Address: AB 470 1530 3RD AVE S BIRMINGHAM AL 35294-0104		